IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1415

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

vs.

ASKARI ABDULLAH MUHAMMAD, f/n/a THOMAS KNIGHT,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950

444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a State appeal from the court below's grant, after a Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 evidentiary hearing, of a new sentencing proceeding before a new judge and jury.

Defendant was charged by indictment filed on October 24, 1980, in the Eighth Judicial Circuit of Florida, case no. 80-341, with the first degree murder of Corrections Officer Richard James Burke, which was alleged to have been committed on October 12, 1980. (DAR. 1-2)¹ After a trial at which Defendant represented himself, the jury found him guilty as charged. (D.A.R. 442) After Defendant waived a penalty phase jury and the trial court considered the penalty phase evidence, it imposed a sentence of death, finding 3 aggravating circumstances² and no mitigating circumstances. (DAR. 455-63)

Defendant appealed to this court, raising the following 5 issues:

I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING [DEFENDANT] COMPETENT TO

² The aggravating factors were: Under a sentence of imprisonment, prior capital felonies, and HAC.

¹ The terms "DAR." and "DAT." will be used to refer to the record and transcript prepared on direct appeal in *Muhammad v. State*, Florida Supreme Court case no. 63,343. The terms "PCR1." will refer to the record on appeal from the initial summary denial of the motion for post conviction relief, Florida Supreme Court case no. 75,055. The terms "R." and "T." refer to the record and transcript in the instant appeal.

STAND TRIAL AS IT HAD INSUFFICIENT FACTS UPON WHICH TO FIND HIM COMPETENT.

II.

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING [DEFENDANT] TO REPRESENT HIMSELF AT TRIAL WITHOUT FIRST DETERMINING HIS COMPETENCE TO WAIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND TO REPRESENT HIMSELF.

III.

COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING [DEFENDANT] THE FROM PRESENTING ANY EVIDENCE OF HIS INSANITY AT TRIAL BECAUSE HE REFUSED TO BE EXAMINED BY COURT APPOINTED PSYCHIATRISTS IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THEUNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING AS AGGRAVATING FACTORS THAT

[DEFENDANT] WAS UNDER A SENTENCE OF IMPRISONMENT WHEN HE COMMITTED THE MURDER AND THAT HE HAD A CONVICTION FOR A PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY.

V. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONSIDER IN MITIGATION EVIDENCE OF [DEFENDANT'S] MENTAL STATUS.

This Court affirmed Defendant's conviction and sentence. Muhammad v. State, 494 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1986). In doing so, this

Court found the following facts:

Muhammad, awaiting execution on death row, (FN1) fatally stabbed a prison guard in the late afternoon of October 12, 1980. The incident apparently arose out of Muhammad's frustration at being denied permission to see a visitor after he refused to shave his beard. In the past Muhammad had been issued a pass excusing him from shaving regulations for medical reasons. A guard checked with the medical department and determined that Muhammad had no current exemption from the rule. At that time Muhammad was heard to say he would have to start "sticking people."

James Burke, a guard on a later shift who had not been involved with the shaving incident, was routinely taking death row inmates one at a time to be showered. When he unlocked Muhammad's cell, the defendant attacked Burke with a knife made from a sharpened serving spoon. Muhammad inflicted more than a dozen wounds on Burke, including a fatal wound to the heart. The weapon was bent during the attack, but Muhammad continued to stab Burke, who attempted to fend off the blows and yelled for help. The other guard on the prison wing saw the incident from a secure position and summoned help from other areas of the prison. When help arrived, Muhammad ceased his efforts and dropped the knife into a trash box.

Two lawyers were initially appointed to represent Muhammad. One, Susan Cary, had represented Muhammad in matters related to his prior murder case. The other was a public defender. The public defender withdrew after differences arose with Cary. For reasons undisclosed in the record, the original trial judge, Judge Green, ended Cary's appointment and appointed Stephen Bernstein to represent the defendant from the beginning of 1981.

The first indication in the record that Muhammad desired to proceed pro se is found in a transcript of a hearing that took place on January 12, 1981 before At the hearing, Bernstein moved to Judge Green. withdraw and, as the judge observed at the hearing, Muhammad argued "eloquently and obviously with much thought and consideration" to represent himself. Judge Green, advising Muhammad against proceeding pro se, noted Muhammad seemed competent to do so, but asked him to "sleep on it" and write the judge a letter with his final decision. Muhammad wrote the letter, electing to proceed pro se, but insisting, as he had at the hearing, that he wanted "assistance of counsel" in the sense of having a lawyer available to aid in preparation of the case. January 21, 1981, Judge Green recused himself for reasons not known by raised before this Court, and also denied or Muhammad's motion to proceed pro se. Judge Green's

order stated that Muhammad did not have the capacity to conduct his own defense either because of the difficulty of preparing while on death row, or because of incompetence, or both.

Muhammad's attorneys were concerned about his mental state from the start. Shortly after the murder, they had Dr. Amin appointed as a defense advisor pursuant to the newly adopted Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.216(a). (FN2) Dr. Amin had examined Muhammad in matters relating to his prior conviction. February 25, 1981, attorney Bernstein filed a notice of intent to claim the defense of insanity. June 10, 1981, Judge Carlisle, who had been appointed to replace Judge Green, filed an order appointing Doctors Barnard and Carrera, psychiatrists, to examine Muhammad to determine his competency to stand trial and his sanity at the time of the offense. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.210(b) and 3.216(d). Muhammad refused to meet the doctors when they tried to examine him July 4, 1981, and met them but refused to cooperate at a second attempt that November.

Based on Muhammad's refusal to speak with the court-appointed experts, Judge Carlisle ruled in a hearing March 8, 1982, that Muhammad would not be allowed to present expert testimony regarding his insanity defense but that he would be allowed to raise the defense. Two weeks prior to the trial date of May 24, 1982, Bernstein filed a written proffer of the evidence and testimony he planned to present relating to the insanity defense.

The proffer included a summary of findings by a psychiatrist and psychologist who treated the defendant during a hospitalization at Northeast Florida State Hospital in 1971, suggesting he was suffering from early stages of schizophrenia. Α clinical psychologist diagnosed the defendant а paranoid schizophrenic in 1975 after an examination for a competency hearing before the trial for the prior murders. The diagnosis was echoed by another psychologist in a 1979 evaluation. Finally, Dr. Amin's findings as a defense expert were summarized, including a diagnosis of "schizophreniaform illness" but recommending further testing to rule out epilepsy.

At a hearing May 17, 1982, a week before trial, Bernstein requested a competency hearing. The judge agreed to a final effort to have the two appointed psychiatrists evaluate Muhammad. At Bernstein's urging, the judge also appointed Dr. Amin as a third expert for the court evaluation. Bernstein also told the judge that Muhammad had refused to meet with him for several months, and that Dr. Amin had not spoken with Muhammad for almost one year, although Dr. Amin had made two attempts during that period.

A letter from Drs. Barnard and Carrera states they were again rebuffed May 18, 1982, and that they were unable to determine the defendant's competency to stand trial, despite "relevant case materials" provided by defense and prosecution attorneys. Dr. Amin was more successful, meeting with the defendant and determining that he was competent to stand trial. A letter to that effect was filed May 19.

May 20, 1982, Judge Carlisle, Bernstein, the state attorney and Muhammad were present at a competency hearing at Florida State Prison. The hearing was although the judge had requested unrecorded, а reporter when the hearing was set. The reconstructed record prepared by defendant's appellate counsel is sketchy, but states that "[b]ased upon Mohammad's [sic] refusal to cooperate with Drs. Barnard and Carrera, and Dr. Amin's report, the court found Mohammad [sic] competent to stand trial. What argument defense counsel made in opposition to the court's order is unknown." Muhammad also raised anew his request to proceed pro se.

Trial was begun May 24, 1982. In a hearing before voir dire began, Judge Carlisle ruled that no evidence of any kind could be presented concerning Muhammad's sanity at the time of the crime. Muhammad again moved to proceed pro se and was denied. The trial ended in mistrial the next day for reasons unknown and not raised to this Court. Two days later, Judge Carlisle filed a recusal and Judge Chance was assigned to the case. Judge Chance conducted a hearing on Muhammad's motion to proceed pro se June 7, 1982. The judge attempted to dissuade Muhammad, explaining in detail disadvantages and soliciting comment from Muhammad.

The hearing ended with the ruling that Muhammad could represent himself. Bernstein was appointed as "standby" counsel, to step in should Muhammad be unable to continue with trial. Muhammad also, for the first time, complained about the competency interview with Dr. Amin. He stated that he thought Amin was meeting with him in his capacity as a defense advisor, not as a court-appointed expert. He said he probably would not have spoken with Dr. Amin had he known the true circumstances of the interview, just as he had not spoken to the other two experts. Although objecting to the determination of competency based on the Amin report, Muhammad did not move to strike the report or suggest any other relief.

Muhammad renewed his objection to the Amin interview at a July 19, 1982 motion hearing.

Prior to trial the court allowed Bernstein to withdraw as standby counsel and appointed a public defender. September 3, 1982, Muhammad filed a motion withdrawing his notice of intent to use the insanity defense. In a pretrial conference, the state withdrew its motion to strike the insanity defense and the judge granted Muhammad's motion. At trial, Muhammad's defense consisted solely of holding the state to its burden of proof by pointing out inconsistencies in the testimony of the state's witnesses. The jury found Muhammad guilty as charged. He waived his right to a jury recommendation in the penalty phase and the trial judge sentenced him to death, finding nothing in mitigation and three aggravating circumstances: the defendant was under a sentence of imprisonment, he had been convicted of a prior capital felony, and the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel.

FN1. Muhammad had been sentenced to death for the murders of a Miami couple. *Knight v. State*, 338 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 1976). Muhammad's original name was Thomas Knight. While imprisoned, the defendant adopted his new name pursuant to his beliefs in Islam. He insisted on use of the new name throughout the proceedings below and, after initial resistance from the judges, succeeded in having the new name placed on the caption of the case.

* * * *

FN2. The rule reads:

(a) When in any criminal case counsel for a defendant adjudged to be indigent or partially indigent, whether public defender or court appointed, shall have reason to believe that the defendant may be incompetent to stand trial or that he may have been insane at the time of the offense, he may so inform the court who shall appoint one expert to examine the defendant in order to assist his attorney in the preparation of his defense. Such expert shall report only to the attorney for the defendant and matters related to the expert shall be deemed to fall under the lawyer-client privilege.

Id. at 970-72.

Defendant sought certiorari review in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on February 23, 1987. Muhammad

v. Florida, 479 U.S. 1101 (1987).

On February 23, 1989, Defendant filed a motion for post conviction relief, raising the following issues:

CLAIM I

[DEFENDANT] WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EOUAL PROTECTION UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNTIED STATES CONSTITUTION, AS WELL AS HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS, BECAUSE THE MENTAL HEALTH EXPERTS RETAINED TO EVALUATE HIM BEFORE TRIAL FAILED ΤO CONDUCT А PROFESSIONALLY COMPETENT AND APPROPRIATE EVALUATION, AND BECAUSE DEFENSE COUNSEL FAILED TO RENDER EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE, RESULTING IN Α TRIAL AT WHICH [DEFENDANT] WAS INCOMPETENT AND ENTITLED TO A COMPETENCY HEARING, IN ESTABLISH THE FAILURE TO AN AVAILABLE INSANITY DEFENSE, AND IN THE DEPRIVATION OF [DEFENDANT'S] RIGHTS TO A FAIR, INDIVIDUALIZED, AND RELIABLE CAPITAL SENTENCING DETERMINATION.

CLAIM II

[DEFENDANT'S] FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH

AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE ABROGATED BECAUSE HE WAS FORCED TO UNDERGO CRIMINAL JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ALTHOUGH HE WAS NOT LEGALLY COMPETENT.

CLAIM III

[DEFENDANT'S] FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE ABROGATED BECAUSE HE WAS PERMITTED TO PROCEED WITHOUT COUNSEL ALTHOUGH HE WAS NOT LEGALLY COMPETENT TO EXECUTE A WAIVER OF COUNSEL.

CLAIM IV

THE DEATH SENTENCE IS NOT RELIABLE AND MUST BE VACATED BECAUSE [DEFENDANT] WAS NOT COMPETENT TO WAIVE HIS SENTENCING JURY, BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO CONDUCT PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDINGS BEFORE AN ADVISORY JURY, AND BECAUSE [DEFENDANT] FAILED TO PRESENT THE WEALTH OF STATUTORY AND NONSTATUTORY EVIDENCE AVAILABLE CONTRARY TO THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

CLAIM V

[DEFENDANT] WAS DENIED HIS FIFTH AMENDMENT PROTECTION OF DOUBLE JEOPARDY AS PROVIDED BY PRINCIPLES OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL IN VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

CLAIM VI

[DEFENDANT] WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE, ADEQUATE AND MEANINGFUL ACCESS TO THE COURTS AND A FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT HIS DEFENSES TO THE TRIAL COURT BY THE FAILURE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA TO FULFILL ITS AFFIRMATIVE OBLIGATION OF PROVIDING A LAW LIBRARY WITH WHICH [DEFENDANT] COULD PREPARE DEFENSE IN VIOLATION OF [DEFENDANT'S] SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

CLAIM VII

[DEFENDANT'S] SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED BECAUSE NO RELIABLE TRANSCRIPT OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL EXISTS, RELIABLE APPELLATE REVIEW WAS AND IS NOT POSSIBLE, THERE IS NO WAY TO ENSURE THAT THAT WHICH OCCURRED IN THE TRIAL COURT WAS OR CAN BE REVIEWED ON APPEAL, AND THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE MUST BE VACATED.

CLAIM VIII

THE STATE'S DELIBERATE WITHHOLDING OF MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE CONSTITUTED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT AND VIOLATED [DEFENDANT'S] <u>BRADY</u> AND FLORIDA DISCOVERY RIGHTS CONTRARY TO THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

CLAIM IX

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONDUCT AN ADEQUATE <u>FARETTA</u> INQUIRY AS TO WHETHER [DEFENDANT] MADE A VOLUNTARY, KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

CLAIM X

THE PROSECUTOR'S MISCONDUCT THROUGHOUT THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE DENIED [DEFENDANT'S] RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR AND RELIABLE CAPITAL TRIAL AND SENTENCING DETERMINATION AS GUARANTEED BY THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

CLAIM XI

[DEFENDANT] WAS INDICTED BY A BIASED GRAND JURY, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

CLAIM XII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONSIDER [DEFENDANT'S] MENTAL DEFICIENCIES AS MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, WHICH MUST BE CONSIDERED REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE MENTAL DEFICIENCIES RISE TO THE LEVEL OF STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

CLAIM XIII

THE TRIAL COURT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN OF PROOF WITH REGARD TO THE APPROPRIATENESS OF A SENTENCE OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT TO [DEFENDANT], IN VIOLATION OF HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW, AND HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

CLAIM XIV

[DEFENDANT'S] RIGHTS UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WERE DENIED BY IMPROPER CONSIDERATION OF THE VICTIM'S CHARACTER AND VICTIM IMPACT INFORMATION.

CLAIM XV

[DEFENDANT] WAS NOT PRESENT AT CRITICAL STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS AGAINST HIM RESULTING IN THE DEPRIVATION OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

CLAIM XVI

[DEFENDANT] WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT BOTH THE GUILT-INNOCENCE AND SENTENCING PHASES OF HIS TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WHEN THE COURT INSTRUCTED MR. REPLOGLE THAT HE WAS NOT TO PROVIDE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

(PCR1. 10-141) On April 24, 1989, Defendant filed a supplement

to this motion, which reasserted claims I-IV and VI-XIV. (PCR1.

141-362) Claim V was restated as:

[DEFENDANT] WAS DENIED HIS FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS BECAUSE THE COURT INAPPROPRIATELY DECLINED TO APPLY LAW OF THE CASE AND COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL PRINCIPLES.

(PCR1. 211) Claim XV was restated as:

[DEFENDANT] WAS NOT PRESENT AT CRITICAL STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS AGAINST HIM AND THE COURT ENGAGED IN EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE STATE RESULTING IN THE DEPRIVATION OF [DEFENDANT'S] RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

(PCR1. 313) Claim XVI was restated as:

[DEFENDANT] WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO COMPULSORY PROCESS, THE RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE AND THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT BOTH THE GUILT/INNOCENCE AND SENTENCING PHASES OF HIS TRIAL, BY ERRONEOUS PRETRIAL RULINGS IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

(PCR1. 320) Additionally, the amended motion asserted the following additional claims:

CLAIM XVII

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO GRANT [DEFENDANT'S] MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE AND FOR INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE DEPRIVED HIM OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

CLAIM XIX [sic]

THE "HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL" AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE WAS APPLIED TO PETITIONER'S CASE WITHOUT ARTICULATION OR APPLICATION OF A MEANINGFUL NARROWING PRINCIPLE, IN VIOLATION OF <u>MAYNARD V. CARTWRIGHT</u> AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

(PCR1. 352, 359) The lower court summarily denied this motion on August 30, 1989, without requesting a response from the State. (PCR1. 1378-84) The lower court found that all of the claims were or could have been raised on direct appeal and were, thus, procedurally barred. *Id*.

Defendant appealed the summary denial of his motion for post conviction relief to this Court, raising the following issues:

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