IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC01-1415

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

ASKARI ABDULLAH MUHAMMAD, f/k/a THOMAS KNIGHT,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

HEIDI E. BREWER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0046569

MICHAEL REITER
CAPITAL COLLATERAL
REGIONAL COUNSEL-NORTHERN
REGION
Florida Bar No.
1533 S. Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(850) 488-7200

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Due to the State's withholding of <u>Brady</u>¹⁰ evidence, Mr. Muhammad was deprived of an adversarial testing pre-trial and at the guilt phase which resulted in numerous constitutional violations rendering Mr. Muhammad's conviction constitutionally infirm. In his Order granting Relief in Part, Judge Chance found that he did not have the information contained in the <u>Brady</u> material to consider at trial and that this had a prejudicial affect upon Mr. Muhammad's penalty phase. Judge Chance, however, did not analyze the impact of the withholding of the <u>Brady</u> material as it pertained to pre-trial proceedings or the guilt phase. This was error. Judge Chance's finding of historical fact that he did not have the information at trial to consider is to due deference by the Court and should not be disturbed on appeal. Under a full <u>Brady</u> analysis however, Mr. Muhammad is entitled to guilt phase relief as well, as there was substantial competent evidence adduced below that the information

¹⁰Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

contained within the <u>Brady</u> evidence, by itself, and in conjunction with other evidence, undermined confidence in the outcome of Mr. Muhammad's guilt phase.

The State's theory at trial was that Mr. Muhammad stabbed Corrections Officer Richard Burke while having full control of his mental faculties, knowledge of what he was doing, and had the intent to commit-first degree premeditated murder. No evidence of Mr. Muhammad's mental state was introduced at Mr. Muhammad's trial. Information regarding Mr. Muhammad's mental state and demeanor prior to, during, and after the offense would have challenged and defeated the State's case of first degree pre-meditated murder as well as death. Judge Chance found the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing showed that Mr. Muhammad was "not in his right mind at the time of the murder" (PCR V1. 906). Thus, this evidence is relevant to, and material to pre-trial and quilt phase issues, for example, competency to proceed, the insanity defense, and Mr. Muhammad's decision to proceed pro se. Consequently, the lower court erred in failing to analyze the impact of the Brady evidence regarding the pre-trial issues and the guilt phase. Additional constitutional violations occurred resulting in multi-fold prejudice to Mr. Muhammad as a result of the State's failure to disclose the Brady evidence including ineffective assistance of counsel, ineffective assistance of mental health experts and an invalid waiver of counsel. At most, Mr. Muhammad is entitled to a new trial; at a minimum, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the issues and to cumulative consideration of all the errors alleged in his motion as they pertain to pre-trial proceedings and the guilt phase.

2. The lower court's order granting a resentencing should be affirmed in all respects. The findings of historical fact made by the lower court (Judge Chance) that the sentencer (Judge Chance) did not have the information contained within the <u>Brady</u> evidence is fully supported by competent and substantial evidence, as is the finding of prejudice. The lower court properly determined, in accordance with the evidence presented and the law that in the interests of justice Mr. Muhammad's death sentence could not stand (PCR V1 911) and constitutionally infirm.

Competent substantial evidence (as well as un-refuted evidence) adduced at the evidentiary hearing, through expert and lay witness testimony, as well as documentary evidence, overwhelmingly established that evidence of substantial statutory and non statutory mitigation was withheld by the State and not considered by Judge Chance during his original sentencing determination resulting in prejudice to Mr. Muhammad. Judge Chance's finding of prejudice should be treated as finding of fact because it was Judge Chance alone who originally sentenced Mr. Muhammad to death who has now heard the evidence, and who has now determined that the sentence he originally imposed was a improper. Thus, that finding should not be disturbed on appeal.

The prejudice to Mr. Muhammad was also established by numerous factors not specifically addressed by the lower court, which although not considered, should have been, and further support Judge Chance's finding of prejudice. Additionally, even assuming arguendo the State

did not withhold the evidence, Eighth Amendment error occurred rendering Mr. Muhammad's death sentence unconstitutional due to the fact that statutory and non statutory mitigating evidence was not considered by Judge Chance. Judge Chance's finding that the resulting death sentence was a miscarriage of justice is supported both in fact and law.

In sum, the lower court's order granting a new sentencing phase is fully supported and should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The lower court made findings of fact and thus this Court should defer to the lower court's factual findings. Rogers v. State, 782 So. 2d 373, 377 (Fla. 2001) and not disturb those findings unless the lower court abused its discretion. Questions presenting mixed issues of law and fact are to be reviewed de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (1999).

ARGUMENT I

MR. MUHAMMAD WAS DEPRIVED OF AN ADVERSARIAL TESTING PRE-TRIAL AND AT THE GUILT PHASE DUE TO A COMBINATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR RESULTING IN MULTI-FOLD PREJUDICE TO MR. MUHAMMAD.

The same evidence that mandates that a new sentencing phase be held equally mandates that Mr. Muhammad be granted a new trial. The lower court however, did not consider the impact of the <u>Brady</u> evidence upon the guilt phase. Nothing in this Court's review supports the lower court's failure to address the <u>Brady</u> claim as is pertains to the guilt phase.

A. Brady Violation

Mr. Muhammad's 3.850 motion alleged (among other things) specific violations of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). 11 After summary denial of Mr. Muhammad's Rule 3.850 motion, this Court remanded the matter to the trial court:

In this case, Muhammad alleges that despite his repeated requests for discovery the State suppressed exculpatory statements of prison employees who witnessed the offense. He further alleges that the State insisted that it had no such statements, when in fact there were such employee statements. Muhammad contends that these statements contained exculpatory information regarding his mental state at the time of the offense, and that he was denied his right to effectively cross-examine witnesses against him based on the statements. Because the trial court believed that this point was inappropriate to a rule 3.850 proceeding, it did not address the merits of whether the alleged Brady violation would require a new trial. Accordingly, we reverse the trial court's ruling on the alleged Brady violation and remand to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

Muhammad v. State, 603 So.2d 489 (1992). No where in this Court's remand is there an instruction to the lower court that materiality of the Brady evidence was only to be considered regarding penalty phase issues, nor would such a limitation have been supported in law. See e.g. Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325 (1993)(applying Brady evidence with equal force to both guilt and penalty phase issues); Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553 (1999). The lower court analyzed the Brady evidence only as it regarded the penalty phase: "the issue

¹¹Mr. Muhammad also filed his Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform with the Evidence which requested the court to address other claims raised in the 3.850 motion, which the court did not do (PCR V. 765-769).

becomes what impact, if any, this information would have had on the sentencing court's decisionmaking [sic] process" (PCR V. 1 at 909). Because no determination was made regarding the impact of the Brady material upon the pre-trial proceedings and guilt phase allegations, the facts must be taken as true for purposes of determining not only their individual merit, but also whether the cumulative effect of the evidence not known to Mr. Muhammad's jury deprived him of a reliable and fair trial. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995); Lightbourne v. State, 742 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1999); Young, 739 So. 2d at 553.

B. The Brady Material

The judge, jury, Mr. Muhammad's trial counsel, and Mr. Muhammad were deprived of significant exculpatory evidence pre- trial and during the guilt/innocence phase of Mr. Muhammad's trial bearing upon a critical fact -- Mr. Muhammad's mental state at the time of the offense. During the post conviction process, counsel for Mr. Muhammad came into possession of a letter dated June 2, 1981 by Prison Inspector L.E. "Pete" Turner to the prosecutor, Thomas Elwell to wit:

Pursuant to your request, I have re-interviewed and received statements from those personnel who had the closest contact with KNIGHT immediately following his alleged attack on Officer Richard Burke, October 12, 1980.

(Defense Exhibit 1)(emphasis added). Those statements contained the following evidence, material to Mr. Muhammad's mental state:

At approximately 9:26Am on October 12, 1980, I was advised that KNIGHT, Thomas, B/M, DC#017434, had a visitor here to see him. I advised KNIGHT, Thomas approximately 9:45 AM he had a visit; I also told him he had to shave to

comply with State Rules and Regulations. He said he could no [sic] shave with a razor nor could he use shaving powder; he said he need [sic] the barber clippers to shave. I asked him if he had a shaving pass; he said No. I gave him a direct verbal order to shave. KNIGHT then stated, "well, it looks like I'll just have to start sticking people." During this conversation with KNIGHT, in my opinion, he never got what I call hostile but very disturbed (upset). I notified the hall Sergeant and explained the situation with Inmate KNIGHT.

* * *

The date October 12, 1980, I arrived at the exit area from where Inmate KNIGHT, Thomas, was being escorted by Officers unknown by me at this time. I observed inmate KNIGHT as having on a pair of boxer shorts and a pair of shower I also observed his facial expression slides. and it appeared to say I've done something terrible, his eyes appeared to be stretched at an unusual size. Inmate KNIGHT responded to all verbal orders and cooperated without having to be forced. Inmate KNIGHT appeared as if had nothing to worry about, and if he had the chance, he would do it all again. KNIGHT's facial expression showed no regrets and no remorse.

* * *

At approximately 6:00 PM, October 12, 1980, while working L-wing, I heard a call for assistance from R-Wing. I ran to R-Wing and onto the R-2-S row. Sergeant H.J. Owen was kneeling over Officer Burke when I got down there, inmate KNIGHT, Thomas, DC#017434, B/M. was standing in front of cell 5. I went back to the grille gate and told other Officers to get the MT down there. I then went back to Sergeant Owen and Officer Burke. Inmate KNIGHT then came down and was looking down at Officer Burke with a blank expression on his face. then ordered him off the row. When I ordered him off the row, at this time he looked at me like "there ain't nothing you can do" and then started down the row toward the grille gate. He did not say anything that I can recall all

the way off the row and I turned him over to Lieutenant Long, where I seem to recall him saying something but I cannot remember what it was as I was grabbing the stretcher and going back down the row. At no time did inmate KNIGHT appear not to know what was happening or where he was at, his responses to all orders given him were responded to without question or delay.

* * *

On October 12, 1980, at approximately 7:00 PM, this Writer, during the investigative procedure regarding the death of Officer Burke, did participate in the initial contact of the suspected person, Thomas KNIGHT, who was Mirandized. Inmate KNIGHT was observed by this Writer to be emotionally calm, during questioning, and continually projected full control of his replies and displayed a mannerism which was polite and exact.

* * *

On October 12, 1980, Inmate KNIGHT, Thomas DC# 017434, B/M, was brought into the Colonel's office area. After being charged with the murder of Correctional Officer R.J. Burke, Inmate KNIGHT was in good self-control, calm collected, and knew exactly what he was doing. I-mate KNIGHT appeared to have no remorse for the killing of Officer Burke. When Inmate KNIGHT was charged, he did not appear to be surprised. This Writer has a tape recording of an interview with inmate KNIGHT on October 12th.

* * *

When I observed inmate KNIGHT, Thomas, DC #017434 at the time Officer Burke was killed, as I was approaching where KNIGHT was stabbing Officer Burke. I ordered inmate KNIGHT to leave Officer Burke alone. Inmate KNIGHT got up off his knee and backed away from Officer Burke. Inmate KNIGHT, to me, acted like he was completely in control of his actions a this time. Inmate KNIGHT said nothing in my presence. I think that Inmate KINGHT knew what he was doing. Because earlier that day, he had threatened to kill the first Officer he came

into the contact with. I think Inmate KNIGHT had planned the whole crime in advance.

* * *

At approximately 6:55 P.M., October 12, 1981, you and myself proceeded to the FSP Confinement area holding cell. The purpose of our visit was to attempt to interview inmate KNIGHT regarding the death of COI Richard Burke.

Inmate KNIGHT was verbally advised of his rights and declined to make a statement.

My observations of KNIGHT at the time he was Mirandized indicated the inmate to be alert, coherent, and in control of all faculties. KNIGHT displayed no evidence of agitation or, remorse.

(Defense Exhibit 1)(emphasis added).

Investigation conducted based upon the evidence learned from the <u>Brady</u> material, revealed that additional observations of Mr.

Muhammad's behavior and demeanor existed that were never disclosed.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Muhammad presented the <u>Brady</u> material, testimony of a prison guard and inmates who observed Mr.

Muhammad before, during, and after the offense. As the lower court found:

[the]Defendant put on a number of witnesses who testified that Defendant appeared not to be in his right mind just before and after the murder. Correctional officer Darryl Brewer testified that he saw Defendant after the murder.[He] testified that he saw Defendant after the murder, and that Defendant had a much different look about him than normal. Brewer stated that "his eyes was [sic] big and to me he looked scary . . . [His eyes were] kind of large and scary like, I mean, real large." Inmate Lenson Hargrave noticed that Defendant "looked like he was in left field someplace, and testified that during the afternoon of the incident, Defendant was in his cell "pacing"

back and forth and talking to himself."

Boyd McCaskill, another inmate who encountered Defendant the day of the murder, emphasized that he had never seen Defendant in such a state: "[Defendant] was in undershorts and all. He was looking all wild and crazy, you know. I asked him, I said, "What's wrong?" He looked like he was having a seizure or something. He was groaning real hard. So he never did respond to me to let me know that what was wrong, you know, but I knew to back off. I don't think he was pretty much all there. . . .

(PCR V. 6 at 906-07)(emphasis added)(internal citations omitted).

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